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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS, EASTERN DIVISION

COMMITTEE FOR A FAIR AND BALANCED )
MAP, et al., )
)
Plaintiffs, )
) Case No. 11-C-5065
V. )
) Hon. John D. Tinder
ILLINOIS STATE BOARD OF ELECTIONS, ) Hon. Joan H. Lefkow
etal., ) Hon. Robert L. Miller, Jr.
) (3-judge court convened pursuant to
Defendants. ) 28 U.S.C. § 2284)

DEFENDANTS’ REPLY IN SUPPORT OF THE MOTION TO DISMISS

Defendants, by their attorney Lisa Madigan, Attorney General for the State of Illinois,
respectfully provide the following Reply in support of their Motion to Dismiss. As explained in
this Reply, Plaintiffs’ Response does not effectively refute Defendants’ arguments in their
Motion to Dismiss that the Complaint fails to state any claims for which relief can be granted.
As a result, the Complaint should be dismissed.

. Plaintiffs Have Conceded That They Cannot Establish the Gingles Preconditions for
a Claim Under Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act and Therefore Fail to State a
Voting Rights Act Claim
Plaintiffs appear to concede that they cannot establish the “necessary preconditions” for a

claim under Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act of 1965 (VRA), originally set out in Thornburg

v. Gingles, 478 U.S. 30, 50-51 (1986). (See Pls.” Resp. 2.) Plaintiffs instead insist that they need

not meet the Gingles requirements because they have used the word “intentional” in their

Complaint. With no analysis as to what test is appropriate, Plaintiffs then simply assume that a

claim of intentional race dilution under Section 2 is subject to the same standard as constitutional

claims of vote dilution.
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Plaintiffs’ assumption is false. A Section 2 claim is a claim that a voting practice or
procedure “results in a denial or abridgment of the right of any citizen of the United States to
vote on account of race or color . . . ,” and Gingles concluded that redistricting (as opposed to
other voting practices or procedures) may result in the denial or abridgment of the right to vote
under Section 2 only when the Gingles requirements are met. 42 U.S.C. § 1973; Gingles, 478
U.S. at 48 (“unless there is a conjunction of the following circumstances [the Gingles
requirements], the use of multimember districts generally will not impede the ability of minority
voters to elect representatives of their choice™); see also Growe v. Emison, 507 U.S. 25, 40-41
(1993) (extending the Gingles requirements to single member districting schemes and
concluding that “[u]nless these points are established, there neither has been a wrong nor can
[there] be a remedy” under Section 2). The Supreme Court has applied these requirements in
every challenge to redistricting under Section 2 since Gingles, and has never found vote dilution
where the requirements have not been met. There is no reason why allegations of intent should
change the definition of when redistricting may result in the denial or abridgment of the right to
vote. Plaintiffs have not provided a supportable one and nothing in the Supreme Court’s
jurisprudence suggests one.

Indeed, the Eleventh Circuit has held that discriminatory intent does not eliminate or
lessen the effects showing required for a Section 2 claim. Johnson v. DeSoto County Bd. of
Comm’rs, 72 F.3d 1556, 1564 (11" Cir. 1996). Only one of the cases Plaintiffs cite is to the

contrary, and that case, Garza v. County of Los Angeles, 918 F.2d 763, 769 (9™ Cir. 1990), holds

! To the extent Plaintiffs assume that the Gingles requirements do not apply to intentional dilution claims
under the VRA based on jurisprudence under the Equal Protection Clause, Defendants note first that the
Court has not considered an intentional dilution claim under the Equal Protection Clause since the Court
decided Gingles, and second, that a vote dilution claim under the Equal Protection Clause focuses on
differential treatment on the basis of race, not discriminatory effect.
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only that the first Gingles requirement — the majority showing — does not apply when intentional
discrimination has been alleged. Further, Garza has been criticized. See Meza v. Galvin, 322 F.
Supp. 2d 52, 62-63 n.13 (D. Mass. 2004) (noting that the Ninth Circuit’s holding “‘that, to the
extent that Gingles does require a majority showing, it does so only in a case where there has
been no proof of intentional dilution of minority voting strength’ . . . is a bit puzzling” because
“the principal difference in proof between a 8 2 vote dilution case and one brought under the
14th Amendment resides in the necessity to prove intent in the latter but not the former”). The
Garza court’s holding is also questionable because its rationale — that application of the Gingles
requirements would prevent redress for redistricting deliberately designed to prevent minorities
from electing representatives in future elections — forgets that relief for intentional discrimination
is potentially available under the Equal Protection Clause.

Nor did the Supreme Court recognize “compelling reasons” for not applying Gingles to
intentional vote dilution claims in Bartlett v. Strickland, 129 S. Ct. 1231, 1246 (2009), as
Plaintiffs claim; rather, the Court concluded that because the case did not involve allegations of
intentional conduct, it did not need to “consider whether intentional discrimination affects the
Gingles analysis” — indicating a presumption that Gingles would apply. In addition, to the extent
that Bartlett noted the view of the United States, that view only pertained to the first Gingles
requirement, not Gingles as a whole. I1d. United States v. Brown, 561 F.3d 420, 427 (5" Cir.
2009), did not involve redistricting, and thus the Gingles requirements were irrelevant.
Similarly, Baird v. Consolidated City of Indianapolis, 976 F.2d 357, 359-60 (7" Cir. 1992),
involved only an effects claim and not an intentional claim, and the statement Plaintiffs quote
was dicta and considered discrimination by means other than redistricting. Finally, Dillard v.

Baldwin, 686 F. Supp. 1459 (M.D. Ala. 1988), considered an intentional claim under the VRA
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unnecessarily — having already found the VRA was violated under an effects analysis — and its
analysis of intent is not based on the redistricting case law.

Finally, Defendants do not argue that a claim for intentional vote dilution cannot be
brought under the VRA, as Plaintiffs’ contend (Pls.” Resp. 2-3); intent may be considered as
additional evidence of dilution in the totality-of-circumstances analysis. See Johnson, 72 F.3d at
1564-65 (11" Cir. 1996) (holding that “proof of intent . . . is circumstantial evidence of
discriminatory results that should be considered in assessing the ‘totality of the circumstances’);
accord Meza, 322 F. Supp. 2d at 74.

In sum, Plaintiffs have failed either to show that a mere allegation of intent relieves
Plaintiffs of establishing the Gingles preconditions for a Section 2 claim or to explain why it
should. Plaintiffs’ failure to allege the first Gingles requirement, that another majority Latino
district beyond District 4 could be created, and to sufficiently allege the second and third Gingles
requirements, and now their concession that they cannot meet the Gingles requirements, defeat
their Section 2 claim. They do not vault over those required preconditions merely by using the
word “intentional.”

1. Plaintiffs Have Not Alleged Sufficient Facts to Support a Dilution Claim Under the
Fourteenth Amendment or Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act

Plaintiffs contend that they have alleged sufficient facts relevant to a totality-of-the-
circumstances analysis to support a dilution claim under the Fourteenth Amendment Equal
Protection Clause or Section 2 (relevant only if Plaintiffs meet the Gingles preconditions),
arguing that they have alleged a lack of proportionality, racial polarization in voting, a history of
discrimination, packing, and irregular procedure. Plaintiffs’ allegations in each of these areas are

flawed, however.
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Plaintiffs mischaracterize their allegations respecting two of these factors. First,
Plaintiffs claim to have alleged a history of discrimination, but in reality, the full extent of
Plaintiffs’ allegations is that “A Latino majority district with a very similar shape was created in
the same location after the 1990 census in judicial proceedings over redistricting” and “Judicial
proceedings concerning the post-1990 District 4 established that race — that is, Latino ethnicity —
was the predominant consideration in the creation of that district.” (Compl. 4 60-61.)
Plaintiffs’ Complaint does not even cite the cases that constitute the large majority of this
paragraph of their Response, let alone allege a history of discrimination against Latinos affecting
voter turnout or a history of electoral discrimination. (See PIs.” Resp. 5.)

Second, Plaintiffs likewise claim that they allege irregularities in the redistricting process
suggestive of intentional discrimination against Latino voters, when in fact not one of their
allegations regarding the redistricting process even mentions Latino voters. Rather, their
allegations about irregular procedure relate pointedly to Plaintiffs’ partisan gerrymander claims.
For example: “State Senator Kwame Raoul, a Democrat, and House Majority Leader Barbara
Flynn Currie, also a Democrat — controlled the conduct of the hearings”; “pursuant to a rule
established by the Democratic chairpersons of the committees, members of the public were not
permitted to ask questions”; “Republican legislators . . . implored the Democratic leadership of
the committees to release proposed maps . . .”; and before the start of Memorial Day weekend,
“the Democratic leadership of the Redistricting Committees released a proposed Congressional
Map, SB 1178, for the first time.” (Compl. §f 38-45, emphasis added.)

Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss explained flaws in the other two factors — proportionality
and polarized voting — to which Plaintiffs fail to offer any effective response. Plaintiffs argue

that they alleged proportionality, pointing to their allegation that Latinos constitute 15.8% of
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Illinois’s population and 24.0% of Cook County’s population, but the “proper benchmark™ for
measuring proportionality is citizen voting-age population (CVAP), and Plaintiffs nowhere
allege a lack of proportionality considering CVAP. Quoted in full, the statement Plaintiffs point
to in League of United Latin American Citizens v. Perry, 548 U.S. 399 (2006) (LULAC), reads:
“We proceed now to the totality of the circumstances, and first to the proportionality inquiry,
comparing the percentage of total districts that are Latino opportunity districts with the Latino
share of the citizen voting-age population.” 548 U.S. at 436 (emphasis added); see also Barnett
v. City of Chicago, 141 F.3d 699, 704 (7" Cir. 1998). As for polarized voting, the Motion to
Dismiss pointed out that the Complaint failed to allege polarized voting specific to Cook County,
an inquiry the Court has explicitly required to be district specific. Further, Plaintiffs simply
restate the required showing in a conclusory fashion: “Traditionally, elections in Illinois have
been racially and ethnically polarized.” (Compl. § 57.) Plaintiffs’ Response does not give a
reason to overlook these flaws. Finally, Plaintiffs point to their allegations that the State packed
District 4 with Latino voters and reduced Latino voters in Districts 3 and 5, but these allegations
amount to no more than the minimum circumstances that underlie a dilution claim.

Plaintiffs thus have not alleged any facts relevant to the totality-of-the-circumstances
analysis employed under the Equal Protection Clause or Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act.
Considered as a whole, their allegations could not support a plausible conclusion that the
Congressional Map operates to further racial discrimination by diluting Latino voting strength or
that Latino voters’ right to vote is denied or abridged under the Map. Consequently, Counts |

and Il should be dismissed.
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I11.  The Racial Gerrymander Plaintiff Has Not Stated a Sufficient Claim

The Motion to Dismiss explained that the Racial Gerrymander Plaintiff fails to state a
claim because the Complaint contains an allegation that in fact undermines the plausibility that
race was the predominant factor motivating the crafting of District 4—the allegation that the
Congressional Map has preserved the core of District 4 since the 1990 census. (Defs.” Mot. to
Dismiss 7-8.) In his response, Plaintiff attempts to discount the force of this fact by arguing that
respect of this traditional districting principle — preserving existing districts — continues
“entrenched racial discrimination,” citing King v. State Board of Elections, 979 F. Supp. 582
(N.D. 11l. 1996). (Pls.” Resp. 9.) But the King court concluded that District 4 remedied a VRA
violation, rather than discriminated against Latinos or any other ethnicity. King, 979 F. Supp. at
617. Moreover, Plaintiff entirely fails to respond to the fact that preservation of the core of
District 4 explains the shape and demographics of the District. As he highlights in his response,
Plaintiff’s only allegation relevant to a racial gerrymander, other than his allegations regarding
the shape and demographics of District 4, is the fact that it was drawn over two decades ago, a
remotely probative allegation at best. It is Plaintiff’s burden to allege facts sufficient to state a
plausible racial gerrymander claim, and Plaintiff has failed to do so; consequently, Count IV
should be dismissed for failure to state a claim. See Miller v. Johnson, 515 U.S. 900, 916-17
(1995).
IV.  Plaintiffs’ Racial Dilution Claim is not Actionable under the Fifteenth Amendment

Regarding Count III, Plaintiffs’ Response ignores the central focus of Defendants’
Motion to Dismiss: Over five decades of Supreme Court jurisprudence has established that,
unless a redistricting scheme seeks to “deny the vote,” “confine and restrict the voting

franchise,” or “exclude . . . from voting” a class of voters on the basis of race, no cause of action
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lies under the Fifteenth Amendment. See Rice v. Cayetano, 528 U.S. 495, 513-14 (2000); Reno
v. Bossier Parish School Bd., 528 U.S. 320, 334 n. 3 (2000) (“It is established that the Supreme
Court has “never held that vote dilution violates the Fifteenth Amendment . . . [it] never even
‘suggested’ as much”) (citations omitted); Mobile v. Bolden, 446 U.S. 55, 65 (1980) (plurality
opinion) (stating that the Fifteenth Amendment does not entail the right to have candidates of
any certain race elected; once finding that African Americans in Mobile, Alabama “‘register and
vote without hindrance,’ the District Court and Court of Appeals were in error in believing that
the appellants invaded the protection of [the Fifteenth] Amendment in the present case”)
(citations omitted).

Neither of the cases cited by Plaintiffs (which both rely primarily on Gomillion v.
Lightfoot, 364 U.S. 339 (1960), the lodestar for all Fifteenth Amendment redistricting litigation)
sustains their Fifteenth Amendment claim. As Plaintiffs’ Response highlights, Hastert v. State
Board of Elections, 777 F. Supp. 634 (N.D. Ill. 1991), states only that racial gerrymandering —
not an alleged vote dilution — could be actionable under the Fifteenth Amendment. 777 F.Supp.
at 645.2 And Page v. Bartels, 248 F.3d 175 (3" Cir. 2001), stands only for the self-evident
proposition that a redistricting scheme that intends to deprive a minority group of the right to

vote may violate the Fifteenth Amendment. 248 F.3d at 193.2

? Hastert was decided nearly a decade before the Supreme Court’s decisions in Rice and Bossier Parrish
confirmed that a vote dilution claim cannot lie under the Fifteenth Amendment. The court in Polish
American Congress v. City of Chicago, 211 F. Supp. 2d 1098 (N.D. Ill. 2002), explicitly acknowledged
these cases when it dismissed plaintiffs’ vote dilution claim because the Fifteenth Amendment “has been
successfully invoked only by plaintiffs who allege government interference with their abilities to register
to vote or to cast ballots in elections because of their race or color.” 211 F. Supp. at 1107 (citations
omitted).

® Furthermore, Bartels involved only whether a Fifteenth Amendment claim was so “frivolous or
insubstantial” that there would be no jurisdiction for a three-judge panel to hear a redistricting-related
claim. Bartels, 248 F.3d at 192-93 (“Even were we to interpret the Court’s statement in its bench opinion
that ‘there is no likelihood that plaintiffs will ultimately prevail on the merits’ as a comment on the
constitutional, as well as the statutory, claims, it cannot properly be characterized as a ruling that

8
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Gomillion itself had nothing to do with vote dilution. Instead, it related to legislation that
was “solely concerned with segregating white and colored voters by fencing Negro citizens out
of town so as to deprive them of their pre-existing municipal vote.” 364 U.S. at 341 (emphasis
added). Plaintiffs here allege no such deprivation of their right to vote, which remains entirely
intact. As such, Count Il is insufficient to state a claim under the Fifteenth Amendment.

V. Plaintiffs’ Refusal to Provide Any Standard by Which to Analyze Their Partisan
Gerrrymander Claims Mandates Their Dismissal

As argued at length in the Motion to Dismiss, unless Plaintiffs identify a reliable standard
by which this Court can judge their partisan gerrymander claims, these claims should be
dismissed. Rather than argue that they meet this requirement in their response, Plaintiffs admit
that the Complaint does not offer any standard (let alone a reliable one) by which to measure
their claims. (See Pls.” Resp. 10, n.3) (“[T]The Complaint does not say anything about a
standard™). This admission alone is fatal to their partisan gerrymander claims.”

Simply put, unless a plaintiff provides a reliable standard by which to measure a partisan
gerrymander claim, that claim must be dismissed. In Vieth v. Jubelirer, 541 U.S. 267 (2004), the
Supreme Court upheld the dismissal of plaintiffs’ complaint because it did not properly plead a
reliable standard by which to measure a partisan gerrymander claim. 541 U.S. at 313 (Kennedy,
J., concurring) (absent “a standard by which to measure the burden [plaintiffs] claim has been

imposed on their representational rights, [they] cannot establish that the alleged political

Plaintiffs’ constitutional claims are insubstantial, as it is well-established that a district court’s conclusion
that a party will lose [or is likely to lose] on the merits of a claim is not equivalent to a conclusion of
frivolousness for the purposes of establishing jurisdiction”) (citations omitted).

* Plaintiffs also contend that, “[i]f anything, it is Defendants who must offer an acceptable standard that
the Complaint fails to meet.” (Pls.” Resp. 10, emphasis original.) The cases cited by Plaintiffs offer no
support for this claim, which would revolutionize federal pleading standards. More importantly,
however, it is precisely Plaintiffs’ failure to provide this Court with any standard (let alone a reliable one)
that is the “legal insufficiency” that dooms their partisan gerrymander claims.
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classifications burden those same rights”);®> accord LULAC v. Perry, 548 U.S. 399, 418 (2006)
(opinion of Kennedy, J.) (“[ A] successful claim attempting to identify unconstitutional acts of
partisan gerrymandering must . . . show a burden, as measured by a reliable standard, on the
complainants’ representational rights”). To credit Plaintiffs’ argument, this Court would also
have to ignore Vieth and LULAC.

In any event, Plaintiffs are not the first to argue that they need not provide a reliable
standard in support of their partisan gerrymander claims. As in this case, the plaintiffs in Perez v.
Texas alleged that a redistricting plan was a partisan gerrymander in violation of both the Equal
Protection Clause and the First Amendment. See Perez v. Texas, No. 11-CA-360-OLG-JES-XR,
slip op. at 19-20 (W.D. Tex. Sept. 2, 2011) (attached as Exhibit A). And as in this case, when
faced with a motion to dismiss for failing to plead a reliable standard by which to measure their
partisan gerrymander claims, the plaintiffs in Perez argued that they did not have to offer such a
standard. Id. at 21-22. And as in Perez, Plaintiffs’ failure to do so here is fatal. 1d. (“The
[plaintiffs] were given an opportunity, but they have not, as required by Vieth and LULAC,
identified a reliable standard by which to measure the redistricting plan’s alleged burden on their
representational rights . . . . Because [plaintiffs] have failed to enunciate a reliable standard, their
political gerrymandering claims should be dismissed on the pleadings™).

The reasoning in Perez was clear (and applied even though some plaintiffs in Perez
argued — as Plaintiffs here do not — that they should be given an opportunity to develop such a
standard at a later date): “[ The Supreme] Court dismissed the claim at issue in Vieth based on the

insufficiency of the complaint, because it did not allege a manageable standard.” Perez v. Texas,

® Justice Kennedy’s opinion is the “position taken by those Members [of the Court] who concurred in the
judgments on the narrowest grounds™ and therefore controls. DiMa Corp. v. Town of Hallie, 185 F.3d
823, 830 n.5 (7™ Cir. 1999) (quoting Marks v. United States, 430 U.S. 188, 193 (1977)).

10
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No. 11-CA-360-OLG-JES-XR, slip op. at 19-20 (W.D. Tex. Sept. 2, 2011) (citing Vieth at 313)
(Kennedy, J., concurring) (citing Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6)). As in Perez, this Court is “bound by
... the black-letter principle that a complaint must state a valid claim for relief for litigation to
move forward. Providing a ‘reliable standard’ for measuring the burden on plaintiffs’s
representational rights is necessary to state a claim for relief for political gerrymandering . . . .
plaintiffs’ failure to provide one requires dismissal of their claim.” 1d. (citing LULAC, 548 U.S.
at 418).

As discussed in the Motion to Dismiss, given the Supreme Court decisions in Vieth and
LULAC, it undoubtedly would have been difficult for Plaintiffs to be the first litigants since
Davis v. Bendemer, 478 U.S. 109 (1986), first opened the door for partisan gerrymander claims
25 years ago to provide a reliable standard that would allow these claims to succeed. However,
by admitting that their Complaint does not — and contending that it need not — do so here,
Plaintiffs have ensured that there is no possibility that these claims can survive. As a result,
Counts V and VI should be dismissed.

VI.  Plaintiffs Have Alleged an Explanation for District 4 Other than Race and
Consequently Have Pleaded Themselves Out of Court on Count IV

Plaintiffs argue unpersuasively that they have not pleaded themselves out of court on
Count IV because they have not alleged that anything other than race played a role in drawing
District 4. As a preliminary matter, Plaintiffs nowhere respond to the fact that the Complaint
alleges that the Congressional Map, as a whole, represents a partisan gerrymander. (Compl. {1
131, 136; Defs.” Mot. to Dismiss 13-14.) Regardless of their arguments regarding the specific
allegations in Paragraphs 5, 85, 95, and 96 of the Complaint, therefore, Plaintiffs have alleged
that partisanship explains the shape of the district. Moreover, Plaintiffs’ arguments that the

specific allegations do not provide an alternate explanation for District 4 lack credibility.

11
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Plaintiffs’ claim that the allegations regarding District 5 do not undermine the required showing
that race was the predominant factor in the drawing of District 4 fails to acknowledge that, as a
bordering district, District 5°s shape by definition affects the shape of District 4. Plaintiffs assert
that their allegation that District 4 protects a Democratic incumbent actually supports the idea
that race and not politics motivated District 4 because it was the lowest population overlap of all
Democratic incumbents’ districts, but Plaintiffs nonetheless still have alleged an alternate
political explanation, and moreover, the “lowest” overlap remains substantial at 69.38%.
(Compl. 195.) Finally, Plaintiffs’ claim that their allegation regarding the division of two
communities making up a sizeable portion of District 4 does not allege whether partisanship or
race motivated the divisions is similarly wishful, in that the allegation is within Section IV.D of
the Complaint, entitled “The Proposed Congressional Plan is Gerrymandered to
Disproportionately Favor Democratic Candidates.” (Compl. 16, emphasis added.)
As Plaintiffs have clearly alleged an explanation other than race for the crafting of District 4,
Plaintiffs have pleaded themselves out of court on Count IV.
VIIl. Plaintiffs’ Contingent Request for Leave to File Amended Complaint

Without an opportunity to analyze any Amended Complaint’s legal and factual contours,
as well as the impact it would have on the scheduling and discovery timeline upon which
Plaintiffs have been insistent, it is impossible for Defendants to take a position on the issue at
this time. Defendants therefore reserve the right to respond in full if, and when, Plaintiffs
formally request leave to file it.

Conclusion
WHEREFORE, Defendants respectfully request that this Court dismiss Plaintiffs’

Complaint with prejudice.

12
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Date: October 12, 2011 Respectfully submitted,
LISA MADIGAN,

Attorney General for the State of Illinois

/s/ Brent D. Stratton
Attorney for Defendants

Brent D. Stratton

Carl Bergetz

Jon Rosenblatt

Office of the Illinois Attorney General
100 West Randolph, 12" Floor
Chicago, Illinois 60601
312-814-3000

13
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MEXICAN AMERICAN LEGISLATIVE
CAUCUS, TEXAS HOUSE OF
REPRESENTATIVES (MALC)

Plaintiffs
-and-

THE HONORABLE HENRY CUELLAR,
. Member of Congress, CD 28; THE TEXAS
DEMOCRATIC PARTY and BOYD '
RICHIE, in his official capacity as Chair of
the Texas Democtratic Party; and LEAGUE
OF UNITED LATIN AMERICAN
CITIZENS (LULAC) and its individually

named members
Plaintiff-Intervenors
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STATE OF TEXAS; RICK PERRY,

in his official capacity as Governor of the
State of Texas; DAVID DEWHURST,

in his official capacity as Lieutenant
Governor of the State of Texas; JOE
STRAUS, in his official capacity as Speaker
of the Texas House of Representatives;

Defendants

TEXAS LATINO REDISTRICTING
TASK FORCE, JOEY CARDENAS,
ALEX JIMENEZ, EMELDA
MENENDEZ, TOMACITA OLIVARES,
JOSE OLIVARES, ALEJANDRO ORTIZ,
AND REBECCA ORTIZ

Plaintiffs
V.

RICK PERRY, in his official capacity
as Governor of the State of Texas

Defendants
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CIVIL ACTION NO.
SA-11-CA-361-OLG-JES-XR
~ [Consolidated case]
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HAMILTON; LYMAN KING; and
JOHN JENKINS

CIVIL ACTION NO.
SA-11-CA-592-OLG-JES-XR
[Consolidated case]

Plaintiffs
V.
RICK PERRY, in his official capacity
as Governor of the State of Texas; and
HOPE ANDRADE, in her official

capacity as Secretary of State for the
State of Texas

Defendants

JOHN T. MORRIS

Plaintiff
CIVIL ACTION NO.
SA-11-CA-615-OLG-JES-XR
[Consolidated case)

V.

'STATE OF TEXAS; RICK PERRY, in his
official capacity as Governor of the State
of Texas; DAVID DEWHURST, in his
official capacity as Lieutenant Governor of
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official capacity as Speaker of the Texas
House of Representatives; and HOPE

" ANDRADE, in her official capacity as
Secretary of State of the State of Texas
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Defendants

EDDIE RODRIGUEZ, MILTON GERARD
WASHINGTON, BRUCE ELFANT,

ALEX SERNA, SANDRA SERNA,
BETTY F. LOPEZ, DAVID GONZALEZ,
BEATRICE SALOMA, LIONOR SOROLA- °
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V.

CIVIL ACTION NO.
SA-11-CA-635-OLG-JES-XR
[Consolidated case]

RICK PERRY, in his official capacity
as Govemor of the State of Texas;
DAVID DEWHURST, in his

official capacity as Lieutenant Governor
of the State of Texas; JOE STRAUS,

in his official capacity as Speaker of

the Texas House of Representatives;
HOPE ANDRADE, in her official
capacity as Secretary of State of the
State of Texas; STATE OF TEXAS;
BOYD RICHIE, in his official capacity
as Chair of the Texas Democratic Party;
and STEVE MUNISTERI, in his official
capacity as Chair of the Republican
Party of Texas

Nt Nt Nl Nl N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N

" Defendants
ORDER
Pending before thg Court is Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Subjec; Matter
]urisdictién-and, in the alternative, Motion for ]udgmént on the Plcadiﬁgs (Dkt. # 209). Plaintiffs have
filed responses thereto (Dkt. # 225, 226,'227, 230, 231, 232, 234, 236, 237, 239 and 240). Defendants
also filed a reply (Dkt. # 249), and MALC filed a sur reply (Dkt. # 258).‘ After reviewing the record and
the applicable law, and after hearing the parties’ oral arguments, the Court finds that Defendants’-
motions should be granted in part and denied in part, and the remaining claims will proceed to trial.
L
Statement of the case
This is a voting rights case arising out of recently enacted legislative redistricting plans. The
decennial census was conducted last year, pursuant to Article I, § 2 of the U. S. Constitution. After the
census figures were released, the State of Texas undertook redistricting efforts to apportion seats in the
- U. S. House of Representatives and the Texas House of chrese_ntatives: See U.S. CONS;r. Art. I, §2;

see also TEX. CONST. Att. III, § 26.




' therein, may be summarized as follows:

‘describe themselves as Hispanic and African-American citizens and registered voters that reside in

|
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The 82" Texés Legislature enacteld House Bill iSO (“H.B. 150"), which established a new
redistricting plan for the Texas House of Répresentau'vcg (“Plan H283"). House Bill 150 was si‘gned
into law on or about June 17, 2011. The legislature also enacted Senate Bill 4 (“S.B. 4"), which
established a new congressional redistricting plan for the State of Texas. (“Plan C185").‘ Senate Bill 4,
as amended, was signed into law on or about ]uiy 18,2011. A lawsuit for judicial preclearance of both

plans has been filed and is currently pending in the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia. The

‘plaintiffs herein challenge'the legality of the new redistricting plans and seek to enjoin Defendants from

implementing the plans.
IL
The parties’ clalms and defenses
There are numerous parties to this consolidated action, and most of the pleadings have been

amended since the inception of the lawsuit. The live pleadings, and the claims and defenses asserted

A. The Quesada plaintiffs:'

| These plaintiffs include Margatita Quesada, Romeo Munoz, Marc Veasey, Jane Hamilton, Lyman’

King, John Jenkins, Kathleen Maria Shaw, Debbie Allen, jarhaal R. Smith, and Sandra Puente. They

current congressional districts 6, 9, 18, 20, 24, 26, 29, 30 and 33.

The Quesada plaintiffs challenge the legality of Plan C185, the congressional redistricting plan.
They allege that the plan clearly AHutes the votiiig strength of African-American and Hispanic voters.
The}; claim that the districts in Plan C185 are “racial gerrymanders” and the plan intentionally
discriminates against Hispanic and African-American pérsons, inviolation of the Equal Protection Clause

of the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. They also assett that Plan C185 is a “blatant

'"The Quesada pléintiffs’ live pleading is their first amended complaint, Dkt. # 105.

5
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partisan gerrymander,” in violation of Article I, Sections 2 and 4 of the U.S. Constitution, and the First
and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution. The Quesada plaintiffs allege that Plan C185
violates Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1973, because minority voters are denied an equal
opportunity to effectively participate in the political process and will not have any meaningful influence
in elections for Members of Congreés in Texas. Finally, they assert that Plan .C185 cannot be
imlslemented because S.B. 4, as amended, has not been precleared pursuant to Section 5 of the Voting
bRigh_ts Act. The Quesada plaintiffs recjuest declaratory and injunctive relief, and seek recovery of their
costs and attorney’s fees.

The Quesada plaintiffs name Rick Perry, Governor of the State of Texas, and Hope Andrade,
’£he Texas Secretary of State, as defendants. They have filed an answer, generally denying the allegations
and specifically asserting the following defenses: standing; nnmumty under the Eleventh Amendment;
and, the cause of action under Section 5 of the Voting Rights Act is not jt‘xsticiable.2
B. The MALC plaintiffs:

The Mexican American Legislative Caucus(“MAL ”’) is described as a x;on-proﬁt organization
established to serve members of the Texas House of Representatives that are elected from and réptesent
. constituencies in Latino majority districts. Many of the representatives elected to serve the districts are
also Latino. Members of MALC are also registered voters in Texas, and participate in state and local
elections. |

MALC challenges the legality of Plan Ci 85, the congtessional redistricting plan, and Plan H283,
the Texas House of Representatives redistricting plan. MALC claims that both plans far exceed
permissible deviation limits and cannot be justified by legitimate state redistricting interests. MALC

alleges that the Texas legislature employed racial gerrymandering techniques to dilute the voting strength

*The defendants’ answer to the Quesada plaintffs’ first amended complaint is Dkt. # 195.
*The MALC plaintiffs’ live pleading is their second amended complaint, Dkt. # 50.
6
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of Hispanics and limit the number of districts in which Hispanics can elect candidates of their choice.

MALC asserts a cause of action under 42 US.C. § 1983 for intentional discrimination and

“discriminatory effect” in violation of the Fourteenth and Fifteenth Amendments to the U.S.
Constitution. MALC also brings an equal protecﬁoh claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 for violations of the
one person, one vote principle. MALC assetts a cause of action under Section 2 of the Voting Rights
Act, 42 US.C. § 1973, alleging that Defendants used facial ‘gerryn.)andering to dilute Hispanic voting
strength and avoid drawing minotity opportunity districts when such districts‘were clearly justified under
the circumstances. Finally, MALC contends neither plan cl:an be implemented because they have not
been precleared pursuant to Section 5 of the Voting Rights Act. MALC requests declaratory and
injunctive relief, and seeks recovery of all costs and fees. | |
The naméd defendants in MALC’s cémplaint are: the State of Texas; Rick Perty, the Governor
of tﬁe State of Texas; David Dewhurst, Lieutenant Govemét for the State of Texas; and Joe Straus,

Speaker of the Texas House of Representatives. They have filed an answer, generally denying the

allegations and specifically asserting the following defenses: standing; immunity under the Eleventh

-Amendment; and tipeness.*

C. The Latino Redistricting Task Force:’

The Latino Redistricting Task Force (“LRTF”) describes itself as an unincorporated association

of individuals and organizations committed to securing fair redistricting plans for Texas. The

otganizational members include Hispanics Organized for Political Education (HOPE), the Mexican
American Bar Association, the National Organization for Mexican American Rights, the Southwest Voter
Registration Education Project, the William C. Velasquez Institute, and the Southwest Workers’ Union.

The individual members are described as Latino registered voters who have been adversely affected by

‘Defendants’ answer to MALC’s second amended corhplaint is Dkt. # 110.

*The Latino Redistricting Task Force plaintiffs’ live pleading s their second amended complaint,
Dkt. # 68. .
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the dilution of Latino voting strength in the newly enacted redistricting plans.

The LRTF challenges the legality of Plan C185, the congressiohal redistricting plan, and Plan
H283, the Texas House of Representatives redistricting plan. As a result of the dramatic increase in the
Latino population, which is géographically compact and politically cohesive, the creation of Latino-
majority districts appeared axiomatic. However, the 82" Legislature allegedly packed and fractured _
Latino voters into districts that ensured a loss in ?oting strength. The LRTF claims that both plans
discriminate against them, in violation of the Fourteenth and Fifteenth Amendments to the U.S.
Constitution. The LRTF asserts that both plans have the effect of “canceling out or minimizing” their
voting strength as minorities and result in a denial or abridgement of their right to vote, in violatior; of
Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. §1973. The LRTF also asserts that the plans cannot be
| implemented until they have received preclearance under Scctioﬁ 5 of the Voting Rights Act, 42 U.S.C.
§1973c. The VLRTF‘ requests declaratory and injunctive relief, and seeks recovery of their costs and fees.

The LRTF names Rick Perry, Govemmor of the étate of Texas, and Hope Andrade, Secretary of
State for the State of Texas, as defendants. They hav;: filed an answer, generally denying the allegations
and specifically asserting the folloWing defenses: standing and E;leventh Amendment immunity.®
D. The Perez plaintiffs:’

The Perez plaintiffs are individuals who reside and vote in various counties in the State of Texas
and have been adversely affected By the newly enacted redistricting plans. The Perez plaintiffs challenge
the legality of Plan C185, the congtessional redistricting plan, and Plan H283, the Texas House of
Representatives rédistticting plan. They assert that the minority populations in many counties have been
packed and/or fragmentcd for the purpose of diluting their voting streﬁgth. They claim that the plans

are the result of racial and political gerrymandering and include population deviations well above

‘Defendants’ answer to the Latino Redistricting Task Force’s second amended complaint is Dkt.
# 132

"The Perez plaintiffs’ live pleading is their third amended complaint, Dkt. # 53,

8
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constitutionally acce;ptable norms. They also claim that the misapplication of the prison population
resulted in even mote dramatic populat’ioﬁ dcviati;ms. The Perez plaintiffs claim that these acétions by
the Statc.;. violate Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act and the Fourteenth and Fifteenth Amendments to
the U.S. Constitution. They seek declaratory and injunctive relief, and recovery of their costs and fees.

The Pe_rez plaintiffs name Rick Perty, Governor of the State of Texas; David- Dewhutst,
Lieutenant Governor of the State of Texas; Joe Straus, Speaker of the T;:xas House of Representatives;
and, Hope Andrade, Secretary of Stz;te for the State of Texas, aé defendants. They filed an answer,
generally denying most of the allegations, and specifically assert the following defenses: (1) the
classification of prisoners for purposes of redistricting is a nonjusticiable .political question, which falls
outside the Court’s jurisdiction; (2) political gerrymandering is a nonjusticiable political question; (3) the
- Perez plaintiffs lack standing to challenge the classification of prisoners for purposes of redistricting; (4) ‘
the challenge to thle classification of prisoners fails to state a claim upox;x which relief may be granted;
(5) the Perez plaintiffs fail to state a claim against Lieutenaﬁt Governor Dewhurst and Speaker Straus
for which relief may be granted becaubse they do not have the authority to alter ‘the redistricting plab
and/or prevent an election from going forward; and (6) Eleventh Amendment immunity.®
E.  The Rodriguez plaintiffs?’ |

The Rodriguez plaintiffs include twelve individuals who reside and vote in current congressional
AiStdcts 10, 12,15, 16, 18, 20, 21, 25. All of the Rodriguez plaintiffs are minorities. The plaiﬁdffs also
include Travis County, Texas and the City of Austin, Texas.

The Rodriguez plaintiffs challenge the legality of Plan C185, the congt;ssional redistricting plan.
They claim that there were several areas of Texas in which majority-minority district"s could have been

created, based on the 2010 census data. Yet the Texas Legislature engaged in purposeful, race-based

*Defendants’ answer to the Perez plaintiffs’ third amended complaint is Dkt. # 131.

’The Rodriguez pla.mnffs live pleading is their ﬁrst amended complamt filed as Dkt. # 23 in
Cause No. 11-CA-635 prior to consolidation.
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discrimination to ensure that the voting power of minority voters was diminished. They also assert that
the Texas Legislature deliberately fractured the tri-ethnic coalition enjoyeci by voters in Travis Cou.nty
and the City of Austin, and the legislature’s blatant racial gerrymandering will effectively prevent minority
voters from having any meaningful impact on congtessional elections for the next ten years.

The Rodriguez plaindffsibring causes of action under Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act, as well
as the Fourteenth and Fifteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution. They further assert that Plan
C185 cannot be implemcnte;d until precleared, pursuant to Section 5 of the Voting Rights Act. They seek
declaratory and injunctive relief, and recovery of their costs and fees.

The Rodriguez plaintiffs name the foilbwing persons and entities as defendants: Rick Petry,
Governor of the State of Texas; David Dewhurst, Lieutenant Governor of the State of Texas ;Joe Suaus,

Speaker of the Texas House of Representatives; Hope Anarade, Secretary of State for the State of Texas;
Boyd Richie, Chair of the Texas Democratic Party; and, Steve Munisteri, Chair of the Republican Party
of Texas. The defcndaﬁts have filed an answer, generally denying most of the allegations and speciﬁéally
asserting the following defenses: (1) the individual plaintiffs do not live in congressional district 27; thus,
they lack standing to'challcnge the constitutionality of that district under Plan C185; (2) the Section 2
challenge to congressional districts that include Tarrant and Travis counties fails to state a claim upon |
which relief may be granted; (3) the; Rodriguez plaintiffs cannot prove actual intent to discriminate based
on race or ethnicity; (4) the Fifteenth Amendment claim must fail because the Rodriguez plaintiffs cannot
prove that minorities are prevented from.voting in congressional elections; (5) the R;)dxigucz, plaintiffs
lack standing to assert claims against Lieutenant Govet;nor Dewhurst and Spgaket Straus because their
injuries afe not &aceable to them and neither the Lieutcn;nt Governor nor the Speaker have the
authority to take ﬂme corgective action being sought; and (6) the Section 5 claim is nonjusticiable, as

Defendants do not intend to implement the Plan until preclearance is granted.'®

"Defendants’ answer to the Rodriguez plaintiffs’ first amended complaint is Dkt. # 133, |

10
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F. Mzr. John Motris, ir_xdjvidua_lly:_”

Mr. Mottis sued individually; on behalf of himself qnly. He describes himself as a resident and
registered voter in the 2% congréssiohal district; which includes Harris County, Texas.

M. Morris challenges the legality of Plan C185, the congressional redistricting plan. He claims
that the congressional district in which he resides was drastically changed as the result of partisan
gérrymandcring, effectively depriving him of his right to vote for the candidate of his c.hoice. Plaintiff
Morris asserts causes of action for violations of Article I, Section 2 of the U.S. Constitution and the First
and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution. He seeks declaratory and injunctive relief, and
recovery of any costs incutted herein.

Plaintiff Morris names Rick Perry, Governor of the State of Texas; David Dewhurst, Lieutenant
Governor of the State of Texas; Joe Straus, Speaker of the Texas House of Representatives; and, Hope
Andrade, Secretary of State for the State of Texas, as defendants. They have filed an answer, generally
denying the allegations and specifically asserting the defenses of standing.and Eleventh Amendment
immunity.

G.  Plintiffintervenor LULAC:?

LULAC is described as the oldest and largest national Hispanic civil rights organization, with a
history of promoting voting rights on behalf of Hispanics and other ﬁﬁnoﬁﬁes. Gabriel Rosales and
others, who are individually named along with LULAC, are members of the organization. They are also
registered voters in the State of Texas. They are collectively referred to as LULAC. |

LULAC challenges the legality of Plan C185, the congressional redistricting plan, and Plan H283,
the Texas House of Representatives redistricting plan. LULAC assets that Hispanic growth exploded

during the last ten years, as reflected in the 2010 census results. As a direct result of that growth, Texas

MPlaintiff Mottis’ live pleading is his amended complaint, filed as Dkt. # 7 in Cause No. 11-CA-
615 prior to consolidation.

“LULAC’s live pleading is its first amended and supplemental complaint, Dkt. # 78.
11
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was apportioned four new congressionﬂ districts. - However, the Texas Legislature used racial
gerrymandering to ensure that Hispanics would not bevablc to elect the candidate of their choice in any
of the new districts. Plan H283 actually reduces the number of minority opportunity districts. LULAC
claims that the plans dilute the vdﬁng strength of Hispanic and other minority voters, in violation of
‘Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act. LULAC also claims that the State failed to accommodate the
“undercount” of the Hispanic population m the census, further resulting in diminished voting strength
iﬁ the Hispanic community. LULAC contends theA plans contain su.bstantial population disparities, in
violation of the Fourteenth Amendment’s equal protectic;n clause and the one person, one vote principle.
LULAC brings its claims under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 for violations of the Fourteenth and Fifteenth -

Amendments, based on allegations of intentional discrimination, diécriminatpry effect, and violations of
the one person, one vote principle. LULAC also brings a cause of action under Section;x 2 of the Voting
Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1973, for dilution of minority voting strength. LULAC further contends that
implementation of the plans prior to prcclearancc would violate Section 5 of the Voting Rights Act, 42
US.C. §1973¢c. LULAC requests declaratoz;y and injunctive relief, and secks recovery of its c'csts and
fees.

| LULAC names as defendants: the State of Texas; Rick Petry, Governor of the State of Texas;
David Dewhurst, Lieutenant Governor of the State of Texas; and, Joe Straus, Speaker of the Texas
House of Representatives. They have filed an answet, generally denyingAthe allegations and specifically
asserting the following defénses: (1) Eleventh Amendment immunity; (2) the claim under Section 5 of
the Voting Rights Act is not justiciable; and (3) LULAC “lacks standing” to pursue its claims against the

Lieutenant Governor and Speaker of the House.®

, "“The defendants’ answer to plaintiff-intervenor LULAC’s first amended and supplemental
complaint is Dkt. # 188. g A
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H. intiff-intervenor AACP:“

The NAACP plaintiff-intervenors include the Texas State Conference of NAACP Branches and
individﬁa.lly named members and registered voters, including Howard Jefferson, Juanita Wallace, and
Rev. Bill Lawsén. ‘They are referred to collectively as the NAACP plaintiff-intervenots.

The NAACP plaiﬁdff—intervenors challenge th¢ legality of Plan C185, the congtessional
redistricting plan, and Plan H283, the Texas House of Representatives redistricting plan. They contend |
that both plans dilute the voting sﬁength of African-American §oters. The 82" Texas Legislature was
presented with plans that did not dilute minotity voting strength, but rejected them. Instead, the
Legislature enacted rédistricting plans that split the minority voting bloc and preventing them from
effectively participating in the political process. The NAACP plaintiff—intervénors allege that the newly-
enacted plans wete developed with the intent to disadvantage African-American and other minority
voters. They allcgea that the plans exceed permissible population variances, and clearly violate the one
petson, one vote principle. They also assert that the plans cannot be implemented until precleared,
pursuant to Section 5 of the Voting Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1973c.

The NAACP plaintiff-intervenors assert a cause of action under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 .for intentional
discrimination and violations of the one l;erson, one vote principle embodied within the Fourteenth
Amendment to the U.S. Cohstitution. They also asserta causei of action under Section 2 6f the Voting
Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1973, based on the dilution of minority voting strength. They also note that the
plans cannot be implemented prior to preclearance, pursuant to Section 5 of the Voting Rights Act, 42
US.C. § 1973c. The NAACP plaintiff-intervenors request declaratory and injunctive relief, and seek
recovery of theill: costs and fees.

The NAACP plaintiff-intervenors name as defendants: the State of Texas; Rick Perry, Govemor

of the State of Texas; David Dewhutst, Lieutenant Governor of the State of Texas; Joe Straus, Speaker

- “Phintiff-intervenor NAACP’s live pleading is its amended complaint, Dkt. # 69.
13
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of the Texas House of Representatives; and, Hope Andrade, Secretary of State for the State of Texas.
They have filed an answer, generally denying the allegations in the complaint and specifically asserting
the following defenses: lack of standing and failure to state a claim against the Lieutenant Governor and

Speaker of the House."®

I.> Cong;esspérsons Eddie Bemice Johnson, Sheila Iﬁckson-Lee, Alexander Green, and Henty
Cuellar, appearing as plaintiff-intervenors:'¢ : .

a. Coﬁgresspersons Johnson, jacksc;n-Lee and Green:

These are Texas African-American voters z;r_ld membérs of Congress who reside, vote in and
represent thé districts affected by the newly enacted congressional redistricting plans. Congresspersons
Johnson, Jackson-Lee, and Green challenge the legality of C185, the congtessional redistricting plan.
| They allege that the plan dilutes the voting strength of Aftican-American voters and they will not have
an equal opportunity to elect candidates of their choice to Congtess. The Congtresspersons contend the ‘
plan unnecessarily splits politically cohesive minority gfoups, and is dgsigned to minimize or cancel out
minority voting strength, both now and in the futute. They.claim that Plan C185 is the result, in whole
or in part, of intentional discrimination.

Congresspersons Johnson, Jackson-Lee and Green assert a cause of action undef Section 2 of
the Voting Rights Act. They also assert a cause of action under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, based on allegations
of intentional discrimination and violations of the one person, one vote principle ernbodiéd within the
Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. .They also state that Plan C185, like the other plans,
cannot be implemented until precleared, pursuant to Section 5 of the Voting Rights Act, 42 US.C. §
1973c. The Congresspersons seck declaratory and injunctive relief, and the recovery of fees and costs.

Congresspersons Johnson, Jackson-Lee and Green name the following as defendants: the State

of Texas; Rick Perry, Governor of the State of Texas; David Dewhutst, Lieutenant Governor of the State

BDefendants’ answer to the NAACP plaintiff-intervenors’ amended complaint is Dkt. # 194,

'*The Congresspersons’ live pleadings are their original complaints, Dkt. # 71 and Dkt. # 222.
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of Texa;s; Joe Straus, Speaker.of the Texas House of Reprcscntaﬁves; and Hope Andrade, Secretary of

State for the State of Texas. Defendants have filed an answet, generally denying most of the allegations
“and specifically asserting that the Congtesspersons “lack standing” to pursue claims against the

Lieutenant Governor and Speaker of the House."” -

b. Congressman Henry Cuellar;
Congressman Cuellar is a Latino voter from Webb County, and serves as 2 member of Congtess.

He challenges the legality of Plan C185, the congressional redistricting plan. He claims that the 2010 _

census data séverely undefcounts Latinos and using such data undervalues the vote of Texas Latinos.

He asserts that the population disparities far exceed the allox%;able deviation under the U.S. Constitution,

and violate the one person, 'one vote principle. Congressman Cuellar alleges that Latinos and African

Americans vote as a group and are politically cohesive, but their voting strength will be diluted under the
- newly enacted redistricting plan. He claims that Plan C185 violates the rights of Latino voters under

Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act, as well as the Fourteenth and Fifteenth Amendments to the U.S.
. Constitution. He seeks declaratory and injunctive relief, and the recovery of his fees and costs.

Congressman Cuellar names as defendants: the State of Texas; Rick Perty, Governor ‘of the State
of Téxas; David Dewhurst, Lieutcﬁant Governor of the Stafc of Texas; and, Joe Straus, Speaker of the
Texas House of Representatives. Defendants have not yet filed answer to Congressman Cuellar’s
complaint. ' ' :
J. ) Intervenor/Cross-claimants Texas Democratic Party and Mr. ded Richie:'®
The Texas Democratic Party (TDP) and its chairman, Boyd Richie, have intetvened and have also

filed a cross claim herein. They challenge the legality of Plan C185, the congfessional redistricting pian,

and Plan H283, the Texas House of Repx.:esentau'ves redistricting plan. The TDP and Richie claim that

""The defendants’ answer to the Congtesspersons’ original complaint is Dkt. # 193.
. ""The TDP and Boyd Richie’s crossclaim is Dkt. # 55.

15




Case: 1:11-cv-05065 Document#—+8-1tFitet—1o2H1HPage-tof-2F+Pagetb-#-766
Case 5:11-cv-00360-OLG-JES-XR Document 285 Filed 09/02/11 Page 16 of 26

the plans are blatant partisan gerrymanders that thwart majority rule. The plans were drawn in an
invidious manner, and have no legitimate legislative objecﬁve; They allege that the plans violate the First
and Fourteenth Amendments, and Article I, Sections 2 and 4 of the U.S. Constitution. They also note
that the plans cannot be implemented until precleared under Section 5 of the Voting Rights Act, 42
US.C. § 1973¢c. They seek declaratory and injunctive relief, and the recovery of costs and fees.

The TDP and Mr. Richie name Rick Perry, Governor of the State of Texas, and Hope Andrade,
Secretary of State for the State of Texas, as cross-defendants. They have filed an answer to the cross
claim, generally denying most of the alieg‘ationé and specifically asserting the following defenses: (1)
Eleventh Amendment immunity; (2) political gerrymandering is a nonjusticiable political question; (2)
the Cross-claimants fail to staté a claim for violations of the First Amendment; and (3) any claim under
Section 5 is nonjusticiable."

IIL
Grounds asserted for dismissal or judgment on the pleadings

Defendants have,movéd for dismissal or, in the alternative, judgment én the pleadings on the
following grounds: |

1. Political gerrymandering claims are nonjusticiable;

2. Plaintiffs Morris, MALC, and the Texas Latino Redistxicting Task Force lack standing;

3. There is no viable claim for census undercount;

4. Claims based on the use of census data on priséncrs must be :disrnissed as a matter of
law; and

5. Plaintiffs fail to allege a case or controversy against the Lieutenant Covemor and Speaker
of the House.

®The cross-defendants’ answer to the TDP and Richie’s Crossclaim is Dkt. # 167.

16
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The Court helci a pretrial conference on September 1, 201 1,' and the parties were givén an
opportunity to present oral atgument on the issues herein. After hearing arguments of counsel, the Court
ruled, on the record, that the motion to dismiss all claimé against Lieutenant Governor Dewhurst and
Speaker Straus is GRANTED, and the motion to dismiss MALC’s claims based on standing is DENIED.
Thus, the Court will only address those issues that remain.

.
tandin

Defendants have moved for dismissal under Fed R.Civ.P. 12(b)(1), claiming that plaintiffs Morris
and the Latino Redistricting Task Force lack standing to ;Assert their claims herein.

“In its constitutional dimension, standing imports justiciability: whether thé plaintiff has made
out a ‘case or controversy’ between himself and the defendant within the meaning of Article IIL Thjs
is the threshold question in every federal case, determining the power of the couft.to entertain the suit.
As an aspect of justiciability, the standing question is whether the plaintiff has ‘alleged such a personal
stake in the outcome of the controversy’ as to warrant his invocation of federal court jurisdiction and to
justify exercise of the court’s remedial powers én his bchalf.” Warth v. Seldin, 422 U.S. 490, 498-99
¢! 975). “For purposes of ruling on 2 motion to dismiss for want of standing, both the trial and reviewing
courts must accept as true all material allegatibns of the complaint, and mustlconstme the complaint in
favor of the complaining party.” Id. at 501; :Ass’n of A' merican Ehyéicians & Surgéons, Inc. v. Texas
Medical Bd., 627 F.3d 547, 550 (5th Cir. 2010). To establish standing at the pleadings stage, general

factual allegations of injury resulting from the defendant’s conduct may sufﬁce. Lujan v. Defendets of

Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 561 (1992).

1. Plaintiff Moris:

The State argues that plaintiff John T. Morris lacks standing to assert his vote dilution claim. The
State concedes that Morris is a citizen, that he resides and is a registered voter in the Second

Congressional District, and that his complaint concems the effect of the redistricting plan on the Second

17




Case: 1:11-cv-05065 Document #: 78-1 Filed:- 16121+ Page-19-of 27+ Pagetb-+#++62
Case 5:11-cv-00360-OLG-JES-XR Document 285  Filed 09/02/11 Page 18 of 26

Congressional District. (Dkt. # 209, p. 9). The Stafe argues that Mr. Morris lacks standihg because he
is asserting the legal rights of third parties—voters who were reapportioned to new congressional districts
in surrounding countics—rather than his own. (Dkt. # 209, p. 9).

. The State is incorrect. Mortis does not argue that other persons’ votes have been diluted. Morris
conténds that Ae has suffered an injury because hisvote for his preferred candidate in Azs district has been
diluted as a result of the redistricting plan.*® That is a personalized injury sufficient to confer standing.?
The fact that his own vote has been allegedly diluted because some voters in his district have been movéd
to other districts is not an assertion of other voters’s rights; it is only a factual assertion explaining how
his own vote in his own district has been diluted. Mr. Motris has standing to assert his vote dilution
dai@, and the motion is DENIED on this issue.?

2. Ladno Redistticting Task Force:

The State argues that the Latino Redistricting Task Force plaintiffs (“LRTF”) lack standing to
pursue certain claims. Plaintiffs alleging associational standing must demonstrate that:‘ (1) the
association’s members, or any one of them, would have standing to sue in their own right; (2) the
interests that the. association seeks to pfotect are germane to its purpose; and (3) neither the claim

asserted nor the relief requested requires individual members’ participation in the lawsuit.?® Even when

*While Mr. Motris doesn’t express his political affiliation, the Court can fairly infer from his
complaint that he identifies with the political party that was adversely affected by the redistricting. See
Vieth v. Pennysylvania, 188 F.Supp.2d 532, 540 (M.D. Pa. 2002) (a plaintiff that is a resident of the
affected area and a member of an identifiable political group has standing to assert political
gerrymandering). ] :

2! See United States v. Hays, 515 U.S. 737,745 (1995) (a plaintiff that resides in the affected
district and has allegedly suffered personal harm as a result of the legislature’s action has standing to
- challenge such action). '

*But see discussion and ruling in Section V, infra.
B See Summers v. Earth Island Inst.,, 129 S. Ct. 1142, 1149 (2009) (holding that plaintiff bears
the butden to prove standing); Hunt v. Wash, State Apple Adver. Comm’n, 432 U.S. 333, 343 (1977)

(stating requirements for associational standing).
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an dssociation is involved, “Article IIT’s requirement rernéins: the plaintiff still must aﬂége a distinct and
palpable injury to himself, even if it is an injury shared by a large. class of other possible litigants.” Warth,
422 IU.S. at 501. In a redistricting case, this means that the pérson must live in thcé district they challenge.
Shaw v. Hunt, 517 U.S. 899, 904 (1996).

"+ The State argues that the LRTF plaintiffs h.avc. failed to show that they live in some of the
challenged districts, namely congressicnal districts other than 6, 12, 23, 27, and Texas House districts
.other than 32 and 78. (Dkt. # 209, pp.' 13-14). The State asks for more factual specificity than is
required at this stage of the litigétion, however. It is true tﬁat, at the summary judgment stage, to

- establish associational standing, an organization must name specific members whc; would be, or have
been, directly affected by the a].legedly illegal activity and provide affidavits with specific facts supporting

| its allegations. Summers, 129 S. Ct. at 1151-52; Lujan, 504 U.S. at 561. But “[a]t the pleading stage,
general factual allegations of injury resulting from the defendant’s conduct may sufﬁce, for on a motion
to dismiss we presume that gen;:ral allegations embrace thoch specific facts that are necessary to support
the claim.” L_qja_r;, 504 U.S. at 561. The Task Force states that it represents “Latino registered voters of
Texas who re;ide m areas where Laﬁno voting streﬁgth has been diluted by newly-enacted plans H283
and C185, and Latino registered voters of Texas who reside in areas where Latino-majority districts
should have béen created but were not in plans H283 ar;d C185.” (Dkt. # 68, p. 4). By stating that it
is asserting claims on behalf of Latino members who reside in districts where Latino voting s&cngth has
‘been diluted or Latino-majority districts should have been created but were not, the Task Force has
éroperly alleged that it is representing members who suffered an injury—in-fact. That is sufficient at this
stage of the litigation. Defendants’ motion to dismiss LRTF’s clai_ms for lack of standing is DENIED.
V. |

- Political or partisan gerrymander claims
The Quesada plaintiffs and John T. Morris allege that the congressional redistricting plan is a

partisan gerrymander in violation of Article I, Sections 2 and 4, and the First and Fburteenth
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'Amendments of the U.S. Constitution.?* The Texas Democratic Party l(“T].DP”) and its chairman Boyd
Richie allege that the congressional redistricting plan and the redistricting plan for the Texas House of
Representatives are both unconstitutional political gerrymanders, in violation of the Equal Protection
Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution; Articlc I, Sections 2 and 4 of
the US. Constitution; and the First Amendment to the U.S. Constitution.® The Perez plaintiffs
océasionally use the words “political gerrymander” in their complaint, but, notwithstanding the State’s
allegations, they made clear in their response to the motion to dismiss that they are making those
statements only in the context of one person, one vote claims, and not as an indcpendénf political
gerrymandering claim.*

The State asserts that plaintiffs’ partisan gerrymandering claims are nonjusticiable political
questions under Vieth v. Jubelirer, 541 U.S. 267 (2004). The justiciability issue is reviewed under Rule
12(b)(1) because “[t]he concept éf justiciablity, as embodied in the political question doctrine, ‘expresses

the jurisdictional limitations imposed upon federal courts by the ‘case or controversy’ requirement of

Article TIL” Spectrum Stores, Inc. v. Citgo Pegolegm Corp., 632 F.3d 938; 948 (Sth Cir. 2011)(quoting
Schlesinger v. Reservists Comm. to Stop the War, 418 U.S. 208 (1974)).

In Vieth, a plurality of the Court concluded that political gerrymandering claims are indeed
nonjusticiable political questions because no judicially disc_ernibl; and manageable standard for
- adjudicating such claims exists. Id. at 305-06 (plurality opinion). Justice Kennedy concutred in the
judgment. He agreed that plaintiffs’.political gerrymandering claim should be dismissed, but he would
not “foreclose all possibility of judicial relief if some limited and precise mﬁonaIc were found to” aecide

political gerrymandering claims in the future. Id. at 306 (Kennedy, J., concurring in the judgment).

- ¥Dkt. # 105; Dkt. # 7, filed in 11-CV-615 ptior to consolidation.
SDk. # 55. | |

*Dkt. # 227, p. 5 (“The Larios claims which embody both racial and political gerrymander
issues are one person-one vote contentions.”).
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Justice Keﬁncdy’s opinion is controlling, because it is the “‘posiu'on.taken by those Members [of the
Coutt] who concurred in the judgments on the narrowest grounds.”” Alpetin v. Vatican Bank, 410 F.3d
532,552n.13 (9th Cir. 2005) (quoting Marks v. United States, 430 U.S. 188, 193 (1977)). Because Justice
Kennedy’s opinion left the door open on futute political gerrymandeting claims, the Coutt finds that
such a claim is justiciable and dismiss»al‘for lack of juﬁsdiction is not appropriate under Rule 12(b)(1).
Howevet, the political gerrymandeting claims are viable only if there is a reliable legal standard
that can be applied in determining the issues herein. As Justice Kennedy noted, there is no “agreed upon
model of fair and effective representation,” so determining whether political classifications are related

to a legitimate legislative purpose is an “analysis difficult to pursue.” Vieth, 541 U.S. at 307 (Kennedy,

J., concurring). Because “there are yet no agreed upon substantive principles of fairness in districting,
[courts] have no basis on' which to define clear, manageable, and politicé.lly neutral standards for
measuring the particﬁlat burden a given pattisan classification imposes on representational rights.” Id.
at 307-08. Absent agreed-upon principles of fairness, “the results from one getrymandeting case to the
next would likely be disparate and inconsistent.” Id. at 308. Accordingly, absent a “standard by which
to measure the burden [plaintiffs] claim has been imposed on their representational rights,” they cannot

“establish that the alleged political classifications burden those same rights,” and their claim must be

dismissed. Vieth, 541 U.S. at 313 (Kennedy, J., concutring); accord LULAC v. Perry, 548 U.S. 399, 418
(2006) (opinion of Kennedy, J.) (“[A] successful claim attempting to identify unconstitutiénal acts of
partisan gerr);mandering must . . . show a burden, as measured by a reliable v.ftaﬂdard, on the complainants’
representational rights.”)(emphasis added).

The non-movants were given an opportunity, but they have not, as required by Vieth and

LULAG, identified a reliable standard by which to measure the redistricting plan’s alleged burden on their
representational rights. Mr. Morris does not propose any standard by which to measure such a burden.
Initially, the TDP and Quesada plaintiffs’ proposal was that we “treat[] partisan gerrymandeting cases

much like obscenity cases—courts will know one when they see one.” (Dkt. # 231, pp. 1-2, 9). During
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oral atgument at the pretrial confergnce, they proposed a “totality of the'circumstance‘s” standard. This
does not meet the Supreme éomt’ s exp,ecltatic}n of a “clear, manageable, and politically neutral” standa;d.
See Vieth, 541 U.S. at 307-08 (Kennedy, J., cohcutring). Because the non-moy_ants have failed td
enunciate a reliable standard, their political gerrymandering claims should be dismissed on the pleadings
pursuant to Rule 12(c).” |

The Quesada plaintiffs also argue in the alternative that a standard could be developed at trial.
They argue that nothing in Justice Kennedy’s opirﬁon forecloses that possibility. But thatignotes the fact -

that the Court dismissed the claim at issue in Vieth based on the insufficiency of the complaint, because

it did not allege a manageable standard. Id. at 313 (Keﬁnedy, J., concurring) (citing Fed. R. Civ. P.
12(b)(6)). We are bound by that apprqach, which accords with the black-letter principle that a complaint
must state a valid claim for relief for litigation to mové forward. Providing a “reliable standard” for
- measuring the burden on plaintiffs’s representational rights is- necessary to state a claim for relief for
politiéal gerrymandering, see LULAC, 548 U.S. at 418. These plaintiffs’ failure to provide énc requires
dismissal of their claim.

This ruling does not affect the Perez plaintiffs’ allegations suppofting their one person, one vote
claim. The Perez plainﬁffs alleged both political and racial gerrymandering in support of their one
petson, one vote claim. The applicable standard will be the standard for analyzing a one person, one

vote claim.

* See Vieth, 541 U.S. at 313 (Kennedy, J., concurting) (dismissing case under Federal Rule of
Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) for failure to state a claim). The State moved to dismiss the political
gerrymandering claim for lack of subject-matter jurisdiction under rule 12(b)(1), rather than for failure
to state a claim under rule 12(b)(6) or judgment on the pleadings under 12(c). But the Court may.
construe the motion, in part, as a motion under Rule 12(c).
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VI
Claims involving census und;:rcount
Defendants have also moved for .judgmenf on the pleadings? pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(c), on
the claims involving census undercount. A motion for judgment on the pleadings under Rule 12(c) is
;ubject to the same standard as a motion to djsmjss.under Rule 12(b)(6). Doe v. MySpace, Inc., 528 F.3d
413, 418 (5th Cir. 2008). Thus, the complaint must contain enough facts that, accepted as true, state a

claim to relief that is plausible on its face. Ashcroft v. Igbal, 129 S.Ct. 1937, 1949 (2009).

MALC and LULAC claim that the State has violated Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act by
relyix;g on unadjusted 2010 Census data, which undercounts Hispanics and thus dilutes the Hispaﬁic vote.
The State asserts that neither MALC nor LULAC have standing to bring their claim because neither can
. establish traceability or redressability. Specifically, the State alleges that the claim must fail because the
plaintiffs fail to demonstrate that (1) the census data is flawed; (2) how the data could be improved
through modification or an alternative method; and (3) whether any such irnprdvements would actually
strengthen the Hispanic vote. |

MALC asserts that the alleged undercount is not a standalone claim, but rather one of many
factual allegations used to support their Section 2 vote dilution claim. To support this argument, they
refer to pages 14 and 15 of their second amended complaint, which says that the undercount, together
with other factors, “all work together to result in a violation of the right of Plaintiff as secured by Section
2. (Dkt. # 50, pp. 14-15).

The State’s only response to this argument is that the Court should still dismiss MALC’s Section
2 claim “to the extent it is based on an alleged census undercount.” However, Rule 12(c) motions are
~ vehicles for the dismissal of implausible clain:;s, not the preclusion of certain facté that are alleged to
support the claim. A party should not be foreclosed at this juncture from presenting certain facts at trial

for a claim that is otherwise viable. Defendants’ motion to dismiss the claims involving census

undercount is DENIED.
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- VIL
Claims relating to the use of census data on prisoners
Defendants move under Rules 12(b)(1) and 12(c) to dismiss the Perez plaintiffs’ challenge to the
newly enacted redistricting plans to the extent that their challenge hinges on the State’s alleged
misapplication of the prison population.?® |
First, the State asserts that the issue is a nonjusticiable political question. As acknowledged in

District of Columbia v. Dep't of Commerce, 789 F. Supp. 1179 (D.D.C. 1992), a significant difference

of opinion exists as to whether certain applicatiohs of the census data, and challénges thereto, constitute
a political qucsﬁbn. We join in District of Columbia v. Dep't of Commerce and find that this case does
not constitute a nonjusticiable political question such that the Court would be barred from hearing it.

On the other hand, Plaintiffs’ arguments have no legal basis anci dismissal is appropriate as a
matter of law. The Texas Election Code states that prisoners are not residents, for voting pufposés, of
the count;' where they are incarcerated. TEX. ELEC. CODE ANN. § 1.015(e)(Vernon 2010). Neverthcless“,
the U.S. Census Bureau counts themas such, and the Texas Constitution requires use of the census count
as the bé.sis f(;r redistricting. TEX. CONST. Art. III, § 26. Thus, the State of Texas'complied with the
dictates of the Texas Constitution. While the State could enact a ‘constitutional amendment or statute
that modifies the count of prisoners as residents of whatever count)" they lived in prior to incarcc:é.tion, '
there is no federal requirement to do so.

Plaintiffs rely on Mahan v. Howell, 410 US.315 (1973), for the proposition that the census counf

for prisoners must be adjusted, and the State’s failure to make such adjustment resulted in greater

population deviation and a violation of the one person, one vote principle. The Mahan case involved

the counting of navy personnel attached to ships “home-ported” in a district as residents of that district, | x

*These allegations are not the sole basis for the Perez plaintiffs’ challenge to the plans under
Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act and the Fourteenth and Fifteenth Amendments to the U.S.
Constitution. Thus, their cause of action will survive regardless of the Court’s ruling on this issue.
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even though very few actually resided in that district. When the district court invalidated the plan, on
other grounds, it drew a new plan and changed the method by which naval personnel were assigned to
a district. The Supreme Court affirmed that decision, stating:

We conclude that under the unusual, if not unique, citcumstances in this case the District

Court did not err in declining to accord conclusive weight to the legislative teliance on

census figures. That court justifiably found that with respect to the three single-membet

districts in question, the legislative plan resulted in both significant population disparities

~ and the assignment of military personnel to vote in districts in which they admittedly did

not reside. Since discriminatory treatment of military personnel in legislative reapportionment is

constitutionally impermissible, we hold that the interim relief granted by the District Court

as to the State Senate was within the bounds of the discretion confided to it. '
Mahan, 410 U.S. at 331-32 (citation omitted)(emphasis added). The facts herein are cleaﬂy
distinguishable. We are dealing with prisoners in permanent facilities, not navy petsonnel on a ship. The
Supreme Court was concerned with the discriminatory treatment of military personnel, and there are no

allegations in this case regarding the discriminatory treatment of prisoners. Nor can the Supreme Court’s

review of the court-drawn redistricting plan in Mahan be compared to the Court’s review of the

legislative redistricting plans herein. As the Suiareme Court noted in Mabhan, the district coufts are
allowed to usé their discretion and apply equitable considerations in drawing remedial redis&icting pians.
Id. at 332. In this case, the Texas legislature was required to use‘the census count as the basis for
redistricting.

The Supreme Court has not extended its holding in Mahan to prison counts, and the Court has
not located any case where any court has concluded that such prison counts violate the mandates of the
one person, one vote principle. As the Fifth Circuit stated in Chen v. City of Houston, 206 F.3d 502,
528 (5th Cir. 2000), “in the face of the lack of mote definitive guidance from the Supreme Coutt, we
conclude that this eminently political question has been left to the political process.” Defendants’ motion
to dismiss the Perez plaintiffs’-claims is GRANTED, but only to the éxtcnt their claims are based on the

State’s alleged misapplication of the census data on prisoners.
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VIIL
Conclusion
It is therefore ORDERED that Defendantsf Motion to Dismiss for I.;ack of Subject Matter
Jurisdiction and, in the alternative, Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings (Dkt. # 209) is GRANTED
- IN PART as follows:
1. The political gerrymandering claims asserted by the Quesada plaintiffs, John T. Motris,
Boyd Richie and the Texs;s Democratic Pa.rty are DISMISSED for failure to state a
reliable standard. This was the only cause of action asserted by Plaintiff ]ohp T. Mortis
and Cross-claimants Texas Democratic Party and Mr. Boyd Richie. Thus, their
complaints are dismissed in their entirety.

2. The Perez plaintiffs’ claim based‘on the use of census data on prisoners is DISMISSED

as a matter of law.

3. All claims against tﬁe Lieutenant Governor and Speaker of the House have been

DISMISSED.

The motion is DENIED in all other tespects, and the remaining claims wﬂl proceed to trial.
Because his claims have been dismissed, Mr. Mortis is not required to appcar at trial on the merits. The
TDP and Boyd Richie’s cross claims have also been dismissed, but Court does note that the Rodriguez
plaintiffs named Boyd Richic as a defendant. They should re-visit their pleadings and determine whether
there is any reason to keep-Mt. Richie in the lawsuit as a named defendant. If not, all claims against Mr.
Richie should be dismissed ptior to commencement of trial.

SIGNED this 2*¢ day of September, ZOII.MV Q |
- ¥
ORLANDO L. GARCIA
UNITED STATES ‘DISTRICT JUDGE

And on bebalf of
Jetry E. Smith ' o _ Xavier Rodriguez
United States Circuit Judge -and- United States District Judge
U.S. Court of Appeals, Fifth Circuit Western Disttict of Texas
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